Case No. 67380

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MAZEN ALOTAIBI,

CASE NO. 67380

Electronically Filed Oct 26 2015 11:32 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

District Court Case No.: C-13-287173-1 DEPT. XXIII

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA.

Respondent.

On Appeal from a Final Judgment of Conviction in a Criminal Case of the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, The Honorable Stefany Miley, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

GENTILE CRISTALLI MILLER ARMENI SAVARESE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A. Supreme Court

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 177.015(3) in that this is an appeal from a final judgment in a criminal case. This Court also has jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 177.015(1)(b) to review the District Court's denial of Defendant's Motion for New Trial.

B. Timeliness of Appeal

Written judgment of conviction was entered by the District Court in this case on February 5, 2015. Defendant filed notice of appeal that same day, February 5, 2015. Therefore, pursuant to NRAP 4(b)(1)(A), this appeal is timely brought.

C. Final Order

This is an appeal from a final judgment of conviction in a criminal case.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(1) in that this is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction in a criminal case based on a jury verdict involving convictions for category A and B felonies.

53

. . =

E.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

The following issues are presented for review:

I.

Whether the District Court should have granted Defendant a new trial on those counts of the Information¹ on which he was convicted of Sexual Assault With A Minor Under Fourteen Years Of Age (Counts 3 and 5) based upon its failure to instruct the jury regarding the lesser-included offense of Statutory Sexual Seduction?

II.

Whether Defendant was deprived of effective assistance of counsel at trial regarding those counts of the Information on which he was convicted of Sexual Assault With A Minor Under Fourteen Years Of Age (Counts 3 and 5), as shown by the trial court record, based upon the opposition of his trial counsel to a jury instruction regarding the lesser-included offense of Statutory Sexual Seduction?

III.

Whether the District Court should have granted Defendant a new trial on

• • •

An Information was originally filed in this case on February 4, 2013. It is reproduced in Volume I of the Appellant's Appendix at pages 1-5. An Amended Information was filed on October 14, 2013. It is reproduced in Volume I of the Appellant's Appendix at pages 6-9. And a Second Amended Information was filed on October 18, 2013. It is reproduced in Volume I of the Appellant's Appendix at pages 10-13. References herein to "the Information" refer to the Second Amended Information, pursuant to which this case was tried in the District Court.

those counts of the Information on which he was convicted of the specific intent offenses of Burglary (Count 1), First Degree Kidnapping (Count 2), Lewdness With A Child Under The Age Of 14 (Counts 7 and 8), and Coercion (Sexually Motivated) (Count 9) based upon the post-trial recantation of trial testimony by prosecution witness Rashed Alshehri?

IV.

Whether Defendant was deprived of effective assistance of counsel at trial regarding those counts of the Information on which he was convicted of the specific intent offenses of Burglary (Count 1), First Degree Kidnapping (Count 2), Lewdness With A Child Under The Age Of 14 (Counts 7 and 8), and Coercion (Sexually Motivated) (Count 9), as shown by the trial court record, based upon the failure of his trial counsel to interview prosecution witness Rashed Alshehri prior to trial and thereby contemporaneously apprehend the falsity of Alshehri's (subsequently-recanted) trial testimony on behalf of the State?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from a final judgment of conviction in a criminal case as to several offenses charged by Information.

J.,

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

On October 18, 2013, Defendant/Appellant Mazen Alotaibi was charged by a Second Amended Information with the following offenses, all alleged therein to have been committed on or about December 31, 2012: Count 1—Burglary (Category B Felony—NRS 205.060); Count 2—First Degree Kidnapping (Category A Felony—NRS 200.310, 200.320); Counts 3 and 4—Sexual Assault With A Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age (Category A Felony—NRS 200.364, 200.366); Count 4 6, and 8—Lewdness With A Child Under The Age Of 14 (Category A Felony—NRS 201.230); and Count 9—Coercion (Sexually Motivated) (Category B Felony—NRS 207.190, 207.193), to which charges Defendant entered pleas of not guilty. (AA Vol. I pp. 10-13).²

Trial began in the Eighth Judicial District Court on October 10, 2013 before the Honorable Stefany Miley and a jury. On October 23, 2013, verdicts were returned finding Defendant guilty on Counts 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, and 9 and acquitting him on Counts 4 and 6. (AA Vol. IV pp. 952-955).

On May 27, 2014, Defendant filed a Motion for New Trial and/or for an Evidentiary Hearing based upon (1) the recantation of trial testimony by State's witness Rashed Alshehri; and (2) the failure of the District Court to provide the

² Citations to the Appellant's Appendix are herein designated "AA."

jury with a lesser-included offense instruction regarding Statutory Sexual Seduction concerning those counts of the Information in which Defendant was charged with Sexual Assault of A Minor Under Fourteen Years Of Age. On July 16, 2014, the State filed its Opposition to that motion. And on August 1, 2014, Defendant filed his Reply thereto. On November 7, 2014, the District Court heard oral argument on the motion. (AA Vol. IV pp. 956-997). And on November 18, 2014, the District Court filed its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order and Decision, denying the motion. (AA Vol. V pp. 998-1012).

On January 28, 2015 Defendant was sentenced with respect to counts 1, 2, 3, 5, 7 and 8 of the Information, and the District Court entered oral Judgment of Conviction. (AA Vol. V pp. 1013-1025). Defendant was sentenced with respect to those counts of conviction as follows: Count 1 (Burglary): a maximum of 48 months of imprisonment with a minimum parole eligibility of 12 months; Count 2 (Kidnapping): a maximum of 15 years of imprisonment with parole eligibility after 5 years have been served, concurrent with Count 1; Count 3 (Sexual Assault of a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age): life imprisonment with parole eligibility after 35 years of imprisonment have been served, concurrent with Count 2; Count 5 (Sexual Assault of a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age): life imprisonment with parole eligibility after 35 years of imprisonment have been served, concurrent with Count 3; Count 7 (Lewdness with a Child Under 14 Years): life imprisonment

with parole eligibility after 10 years of imprisonment have been served, concurrent with Count 5; Count 8 (Lewdness with a Child Under 14 Years): life imprisonment with parole eligibility after 10 years of imprisonment have been served, concurrent with Count 7, with 758 days credit for time served. (AA Vol. V pp. 1013-1025).³

Defendant was further sentenced to serve a special sentence of lifetime supervision to commence upon release from any term of imprisonment, probation or parole; ordered to register as a sex offender in accordance with NRS 179D.460 within 48 hours after any release from custody; and ordered to pay restitution in the amount of \$2,723.94, a \$150.00 DNA analysis fee, and a \$25.00 administrative assessment fee. (AA Vol. V pp. 1013-1025).

The District Court further ordered that before Defendant is eligible for parole, a panel consisting of the Administrator of Mental Health and Development Services of the Nevada Department of Human Resources or his designee; the Director of the Nevada Department of Corrections or his designee; and either a psychologist or a psychiatrist licensed to practice in the State of Nevada must certify that Defendant does not present a high risk to re-offend based on current accepted standards of assessment. (AA Vol. V pp. 1013-1025).

On February 5, 2015, the District Court filed its written Judgment of

As a result of oversight, sentence was not imposed at the January 28, 2015 sentencing with respect to Count 9 (Coercion Sexually Motivated). So on February 2, 2015, Defendant was separately sentenced to time served with respect to that count.

Conviction. (AA Vol. V pp. 1026-1028). On that same day, February 5, 2015, Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal. (AA Vol. V pp. 1029-1031).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the night of December 30, 2012, the Defendant Rashed Alshehri and Mohammed Jafaari, rented a car and drove from Santa Monica, California to Las Vegas, Nevada to celebrate the New Year; arriving on the early morning of December 31, 2012 at around 2:00 A.M. (AA000528). After their arrival, they joined some local friends at a bar in the Palms Hotel & Casino ("the Palms") and began drinking alcoholic beverages. (AA000529; 000741).

The group remained at that bar at for two and a half hours. (AA000529). During that time, Defendant consumed numerous drinks of cognac and numerous double drinks of straight whiskey (with no mixer). (AA000529; 000741).

The group then went from the Palms to the Olympic Garden gentlemen's club ("Olympic Garden"), where they continued to drink alcoholic beverages; Defendant further consuming numerous drinks of cognac and numerous additional double drinks of a straight "dark liquor" (with no mixer). (AA000532-000533; 00741, 000743-000745).

By the time Defendant Mr. Alshehri, and Mr. Jafaari eventually left Olympic Garden, it was well after sun up. (AA000533-000534). And the testimony adduced at trial showed that the Defendant was by then extremely intoxicated.

Indeed, Rashed Alshehri, a witness for the State, testified at trial that when the three men left Olympic Garden, Defendant was "black out" drunk. (AA000533-000537).

However, Mr. Alshehri also testified that after he, Defendant and Mr. Jafaari left Olympic Garden, Defendant drove the group in their rental car to the Circus Circus Hotel & Casino ("Circus Circus"), where the men were staying; and that Defendant drove the vehicle competently and without incident. (AA000535, 000539).

Defendant, Mr. Alshehri, and Mr. Jafaari arrived at Circus Circus at about 7:00 A.M. (AA000087). Mr. Alshehri testified that Defendant was so drunk at this time that he was unable to walk normally. (AA000529, 000560-000562). And, consistent therewith, the District Court personally observed that "a surveillance video from Circus Circus showed the Defendant having difficulties walking around the hotel." (AA001007).

As the three men exited the elevator and proceeded toward their room on the sixth floor, they encountered 13 year old Anke ("A.J") Dang ("A.J."), who was then sitting alone on a couch in the sixth floor elevator lobby area. (AA00008, 000540). As the three proceeded toward their hotel room, A.J. voluntarily followed them; inquiring if they had any marijuana. (AA000541). A. J. then voluntarily followed Defendant, Mr. Alshehri and Mr. Jafaari into their hotel room

in pursuit of marijuana. (AA000090).

When Defendant told A.J. that they did have marijuana and that he was going to go outside the building to smoke some, A.J. voluntarily accompanied him out of the room and to the elevator in order to smoke marijuana with him. (AA000092).

A.J. testified at trial that as they were walking to the elevator, Defendant made overt sexual advances towards him. (AA000093). A. J. further testified that he thereafter continued to voluntarily accompany Defendant to the elevator, and thereupon voluntarily entered the elevator with him. (AA000093).

A. J. testified that, once inside the elevator, Defendant kissed him on the face and ear. (AA000093). He further testified that he thereupon continued to voluntarily accompany Defendant out of the building to an alley behind the hotel, in order to smoke marijuana with him. (AA000094). And he further testified that, in the alley, the two smoked marijuana together. (AA000094).

A.J. testified that he thereafter voluntarily accompanied Defendant back to the elevator; voluntarily entered the elevator with Defendant; and voluntarily accompanied Defendant back to the sixth floor and into Defendant's hotel room. (AA00097). And A. J. testified that he thereupon walked directly past Mr. Alshehri and Mr. Jafaari, who were then watching television in the immediately-adjacent sitting area, and immediately and voluntarily accompanied Defendant

directly into the interior bathroom. (AA000097).

It is undisputed that, inside the bathroom, A.J. performed oral sex on the Defendant, and that the Defendant then performed anal sex on A.J. (AA000100-000102).

A.J. testified at trial that Defendant physically forced him to engage in those acts against his will. (AA000889). However, he admitted at trial that he deliberately lied to police investigators when he also reported to them that, when the two returned to the sixth floor after smoking marijuana Defendant had likewise physically dragged him down the hallway; and physically forced him into his hotel room, and then into the interior bathroom, against his will. (AA000105-000106). Indeed, A. J. had initially acknowledged to hotel security personnel and testified at trial that he had willingly accompanied Defendant into his hotel room and then into the bathroom as well. (AA000102-000104).

Once inside the bathroom, A. J. did not cry out. (AA000342). And when he ultimately exited the bathroom, he made no complaint to Mr. Alshehri or Mr. Jafaari — who were then still present in the immediately adjacent sitting area watching television — that Appellant had allegedly subjected him to a forcible sexual assault or any other criminal offense. (AA000193).

A.J. ultimately reported to hotel security personnel that he had been assaulted. And Defendant was arrested by officers of the Las Vegas Metropolitan

Police Department ("LVMPD") shortly thereafter.

During a videotaped post-arrest statement to LVMPD detectives, Defendant admitted that he had indeed engaged in sexual conduct with A. J. Dang, and that he had penetrated A. J. both orally and anally. (AA000719). However, Defendant advised the officers that A.J. had agreed to engage in those sex acts with him in exchange for an additional quantity of marijuana and a sum of cash. (AA000095-000096).

Defendant did not testify at trial. However, the videotape of his entire postarrest statement was offered by the prosecution, admitted into evidence by the District Court, and displayed to the jury.

Following the close of evidence, the District Court conducted a conference with counsel for Defendant and the State; and noting that evidence consistent with consent on the part of A. J. had been adduced, indicated that, if requested to do so by defense counsel, the court was inclined to provide the jury with a lesser-included offense instruction regarding Statutory Sexual Seduction concerning those counts of the Information in which Defendant was charged with Sexual Assault With A Minor Under Fourteen Years Of Age. (AA000649). However, Defendant's trial counsel expressly opted not to make that request; and indeed, affirmatively opposed the instruction. (AA000825-000826). And accordingly, the District Court declined to give it.

In its closing argument, the State expressly relied upon Mr. Alshehri's trial testimony that, after he and his companions had left Olympic Garden, Defendant had competently driven the rental car to Circus Circus as a basis for claiming that Defendant was not so intoxicated that he could not form the *mens rea* required for the specific intent crimes of Burglary, First Degree Kidnapping, Lewdness With A Child Under The Age Of 14, and Coercion (Sexually Motivated). (AA000880).

The jury returned verdicts of guilty on the charges of Burglary (Count 1), First Degree Kidnapping (Count 2), Sexual Assault With A Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age (Counts 3 and 5), two of the counts charging Lewdness With A Child Under The Age Of 14 (Counts 7 and 8), and Coercion (Sexually Motivated) (Count 9). (AA000907-000909). The jury acquitted Defendant on Counts 4 and 6, in which he was also charged with Lewdness With A Child Under The Age Of 14. (AA000908).

Subsequent to trial, State's witness Rashed Alshehri voluntarily came forward and signed a sworn affidavit recanting his trial testimony that Defendant had driven the rental car to Circus Circus; admitting that he had lied at trial when he so testified; and stating that, in truth and in fact, Defendant never drove the car at any time after he, Mr. Alshehri and Mr. Jafaari left Olympic Garden. (AA000060).

Defendant's trial counsel had not interviewed Mr. Alshehri prior to trial in

conjunction with any pre-trial defense investigation either personally or by and through a private investigator. Therefore, at trial, he did not contemporaneously apprehend that Mr. Alshehri was lying during his testimony on direct examination on behalf of the State with respect to his false assertions that the Defendant drove the car to Circus Circus on the morning of December 31, 2012, and was not so intoxicated as to be unable to drive the vehicle safely, competently and without incident. And as a result, defense counsel did not confront and cross-examine Mr. Alshehri at trial accordingly.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant respectfully submits that, at trial, the District Court erred in failing to provide the jury with a lesser-included offense instruction regarding Statutory Sexual Seduction concerning those counts of the Information in which he was charged with Sexual Assault Of A Minor Under The Age Of Fourteen Years notwithstanding the opposition of Defendant's trial counsel thereto. Thus, he contends that such an instruction was mandatory in this case, and that the trial court was obligated to provide it *sua sponte*.

In support of that contention, Defendant respectfully submits that such a lesser-included offense instruction was sufficiently supported by evidence which would absolve the Defendant from guilt of the greater offense but would support a finding of guilt of the lesser offense; specifically, evidence consistent with both

consent and the capacity to consent on the part of A.J. Dang.

Accordingly, Defendant maintains that the District Court erred in denying his motion for a new trial on this basis concerning those counts of the Information on which he was convicted of Sexual Assault Of A Minor Under The Age Of Fourteen Years.

In the alternative, Defendant contends that by opposing the provision of the lesser-included offense instruction that the District Court was otherwise willing to give, his trial counsel failed to provide him with effective assistance. And he respectfully submits that this claim of ineffective assistance may properly be determined on direct appeal.

Defendant further respectfully submits that the District Court erred in denying his motion for a new trial on the basis of the post-trial recantation of materially false testimony State's witness Alsherhi that significantly undermined his intoxication defense to the remaining counts of the Information on which he was convicted of several specific intent crimes.

In the alternative, Defendant contends that his trial counsel further failed to provide him with effective assistance by having failed to interview or otherwise conduct any pre-trial investigation with respect to Mr. Alshehri. And he likewise contends that this claim of ineffective assistance may also properly be determined on direct appeal.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL REGARDING THOSE COUNTS OF THE INFORMATION ON WHICH DEFENDANT WAS CONVICTED OF SEXUAL ASSAULT WITH A MINOR UNDER FOURTEEN YEARS OF AGE (COUNTS 3 AND 5) BASED UPON ITS FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY WITH RESPECT TO THE LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE OF STATUTORY SEXUAL SEDUCTION.

A. Standard Of Review

"This court generally reviews a district court's decision settling jury instructions for an abuse of discretion or judicial error." *Berry v. State*, 125 Nev. 265, 273, 212 P.3d 1085, 1091 (2009); *Brooks v. State*, 124 Nev. 203, 180 P.3d 657, 658–59 (2008); *Crawford v. State*, 121 Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." *Crawford* at 748, 585.

Defendant respectfully submits that, in this case, the District Court's decision not to provide the jury with a lesser-included offense instruction regarding Statutory Sexual Seduction as to those counts of the Information in which he was charged with Sexual Assault Of A Minor Under The Age Of Fourteen Years was an abuse of discretion because the provision of such an instruction was legally mandatory in this case; and therefore, that the decision of the District Court not to provide it exceeded the bounds of law.

В.

A Lesser-Included Offense Instruction Regarding Statutory Sexual Seduction Was Mandatory.

1.

Statutory Sexual Seduction Is A Lesser-Included Offense Of Sexual Assault Of A Minor Under Fourteen Years Of Age.

At the time of the alleged commission of the offenses charged in the Information the following pertinent provisions of the Nevada Revised Statutes ("NRS") were in force and effect:

"NRS 200.366 Sexual assault: Definition; penalties.

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