#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\_\_\_\_

Electronically Filed Feb 05 2016 03:46 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

MAZEN ALOTAIBI,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 67380

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DOMINIC P. GENTILE, ESQ. Nevada Bar #001923 VINCENT SAVARSES, III, ESQ. Nevada Bar #002467 410 South Rampart Blvd., Suite 420 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 (702) 880-0000

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

# <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING ALOTAIBI'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL AS STATUTORY SEXUAL SEDUCTION IS A LESSER-RELATED OFFENSE OF SEXUAL ASSAULT WITH A MINOR UNDER 14 YEARS OF AGE, THUS THE DISTRICT COURT WAS UNDER NO OBLIGATION TO GIVE THIS INSTRUCTION SUA SPONTE.

During the settling of jury instructions, the district court had a discussion with counsel outside the presence of the jury about whether or not it would instruct the jury on Statutory Sexual Seduction. 3 AA 648-63. The district court indicated that after doing some research, it found that this offense was not a lesser-included offense of Sexual Assault with a Minor under 14 Years of Age, but a lesser-related, which

the State agreed with. Id. at 648-49. The district court indicated that, if requested by defense counsel, it was inclined to allow the Statutory Sexual Seduction instruction as it believed there was testimony of consent by the victim in this case. Id. at 649. The district court stated the reason it believed that Statutory Sexual Seduction was a lesser-related versus a lesser-included offense was because it included the additional element that the consenting person must be under the age of 16. Id. at 653. The State objected, stating that the defense was not entitled to this instruction as they are only entitled to lesser-included offense instructions. Id. at 649-54. Defense counsel told the district court that they were declining its invitation to provide the Statutory Sexual Seduction instruction. As long as the district court was going to give their Reasonable Consent and Reasonable Mistaken Belief of Consent defense instructions to the jury, that was sufficient for them to strategically argue their defenses. Id. at 655-57; 4 AA 825.

In his Motion for New Trial, Alotaibi claimed that he was deprived of this Statutory Sexual Seduction instruction because he argued it is a lesser-included offense of Sexual Assault with a Minor. RA 16-20. In its Opposition, the State argued that this issue should not be considered by the district court as the request for the instruction was voluntarily withdrawn by defense counsel. RA 238. On

November 18, 2014, the district court entered its Order denying the Motion.<sup>2</sup> 5 AA 1011.

On appeal, Alotaibi claims that it was error for the district court to deny his Motion for New Trial, and not provide the jury with the "lesser-included" offense instruction of Statutory Sexual Seduction for his two counts of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under the Age of 14. AOB 16. Alotaibi alleges that the district court should have provided this instruction sua sponte even though his counsel declined the district court's request because he alleges that Statutory Sexual Seduction is a lesserincluded offense, and thus is mandatory for the court to give. AOB 15-24. However, this claim is without merit. First, district courts are not required to give jury instructions on lesser-related offenses sua sponte. Moreover, the district court offered to give this instruction, as it did find indicia of consent by the victim, but defense counsel strategically chose to decline the district court's request. 3 AA 649-57. Further, as stated below, Statutory Sexual Seduction is nothing more than a lesser-related offense of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under 14 Years of Age, therefore the district court was not required to give this instruction sua sponte, thus the district court did not err in denying Alotaibi's Motion for New Trial.

///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In its Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law and Order on November 18, 2014, the district court denied Alotaibi's Motion; however, it did not address this issue in its decision.

# A. Statutory Sexual Seduction is at Most a Lesser-Related Offense of Sexual Assault with a Minor under 14 Years of Age.

A district court has broad discretion with respect to jury instructions, and absent an abuse of discretion or judicial error, this Court will uphold a district court's decision regarding jury instructions. <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 203, 204, 180 P.3d 657 (2008).

NRS 175.501 governs lesser-included offenses and reads: "The defendant may be found guilty . . . of an offense necessarily included in the offense charged or of an attempt to commit either the offense charged or of an attempt to commit either the offense charged or an offense necessarily included therein if the attempt is an offense." NRS 175.501. This Court has held that a defendant is entitled to jury instructions on lesser-included offenses "if the evidence would permit a jury to rationally find him guilty of the lesser and acquit him of the greater." Rosas v. State, 122 Nev. 1258, 1264, 147 P.3d 1101, 1105-06 (2006) (quoting Keeble v. U.S., 412 U.S. 205, 208, 93 S. Ct. 1993, 1995 (1973)). Because this Court has recognized that a defendant is entitled to jury instructions supported by "any evidence, however slight," the relevant question then becomes whether the lesser included offense is "necessarily included" in the charged offense. NRS 175.501.

There are important differences between lesser-included offenses and lesser-related offenses. As the United States Supreme Court explained in <u>Beck v. Alabama</u>, the use of lesser-included offense instructions serves a valuable purpose, namely,

reducing the risk of an unwarranted conviction "when the evidence unquestionably establishes that the defendant is guilty of a serious, violent offense -- but leaves some doubt with respect to an element." 447 U.S. 625, 637, 100 S. Ct. 2382, 2389 (1980), clarified by Hopkins v. Reeves, 524 U.S. 88, 118 S. Ct. 1895 (1998).

As emphasized, whether one offense is a lesser-included offense of another depends upon the elements of the relevant statute, much like the <u>Blockburger</u><sup>3</sup> test that applies to Double Jeopardy claims. Under the strict application of <u>Blockburger</u>, an offense is lesser-included only where the defendant, in committing the greater offense, has also committed the lesser offense. <u>See Barton v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 686, 692, 30 P.3d 1103, 1107 (2001), <u>overruled on other grounds by Rosas v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1258, 1269, 147 P.3d 1101, 1109 (2006). By contrast, lesser-related offenses are simply other offenses. <u>See Smith v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 944, 946, 102 P.3d 569, 571 (2004). As the United States Supreme Court explained in <u>Hopkins</u>, there is not a workable standard for identifying lesser-related offenses given that they do not depend upon the statutory elements of an offense. 524 U.S. at 97, 118 S. Ct. at 1901.

Here, Alotaibi's claim that Statutory Sexual Seduction amounted to a lesser-included offense of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under 14 Years of Age, and was thus mandatory for the district court to give sua sponte, is without merit. AOB 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S. Ct. 180 (1932).

The two statutes at issue here are NRS 200.366(1) and NRS 200.364(6). Under NRS 200.366, sexual assault is defined as: (1) the "sexual penetration" (2) of "another person" or beast, either by subjecting the other person to penetration, by forcing the other person to penetrate themselves or another, or penetrate a beast, (3) which is "against the will of the victim or under conditions . . . the perpetrator knows or should know that the victim is mentally or physically incapable of resisting or understanding the nature of his or her conduct." Statutory sexual seduction is defined under two subsections. Under subsection NRS 200.364(6)(a), statutory sexual seduction is defined as: (1) ordinary sexual intercourse, anal intercourse, cunnilingus or fellatio (2) committed by a person 18 years of age or older (3) with a person under the age of 16. Or, under subsection NRS 200.364(6)(b), statutory sexual seduction is defined as: (1) "any other penetration" (2) committed by a person 18 years of age or order (3) with a person under the age of 16 (4) with the intent of "arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust or passions or sexual desires" of either person. Sexual Assault is a general intent crime whereas Statutory Sexual Seduction is a strict liability crime. Winnerford H. v. State, 112 Nev. 520, 526, 915 P.2d 291, 294 (1996); Honeycutt v. State, 118 Nev. 660, 667, 56 P.3d 362, 369 (2002), citing Jenkins v. State, 110 Nev. 865, 870-71, 877 P.2d 1063, 1066-67 (1994), overruled on other grounds by Carter v. State, 121 Nev. 759, 121 P.3d 592 (2005).

It is clear in comparing the two statutes that the elements of Statutory Sexual Seduction are not "necessarily included" in the elements of Sexual Assault. This Court in Slobodian v. State, 98 Nev. 52, 639 P.2d 561 (1982), found that Statutory Sexual Seduction was in fact not a lesser-included crime to sexual assault, because it held that sexual assault can be committed without necessarily committing statutory sexual seduction, as such it is at best a lesser-related offense.

Moreover, Sexual Assault can be committed in the following ways without committing Statutory Sexual Seduction: first, digital or other objects of penetration of a minor can be done without the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying a lust or passions or desires of either persons. This specific intent is not required for Sexual Assault, but it is required for Statutory Sexual Seduction. See NRS 200.364(6)(b). Second, forcing another person to make a sexual penetration on himself or herself, or another, or on a beast is an element of Sexual Assault. Because statutory sexual seduction only involves sexual penetration between the defendant and the victim, the elements of NRS 200.364(4) would not be satisfied while the elements of NRS 200.366(1) would be satisfied.

Third, a juvenile that has been certified as an adult, under the language of NRS 200.364(4), has not committed statutory seduction by sexually penetrating another minor under 16 because the defendant must be "18 or older." <u>But see Robinson v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 1137, 881 P.2d 667 (1994) (holding that the defendant was entitled

to a statutory sexual seduction instruction because he was tried as an adult and thus, "is no longer a child in the eyes of the criminal law."). And finally, when the defendant assaults a victim over 16, the elements of statutory sexual seduction are clearly not satisfied. Age is an element of statutory sexual assault but is merely a sentencing enhancement for sexual assault. Compare NRS 200.364(6) with NRS 200.366. In other contexts, this Court has concluded that sentencing enhancements are not elements of the underlying offense. See e.g., Williams v. State, 99 Nev. 797, 798, 671 P.2d 635, 636 (1983) (holding that the deadly weapon enhancement of NRS 193.165 is not a "necessary element" of murder or attempted murder because both offenses can be committed without use of a deadly weapon); Cardova v. State, 116 Nev. 664, 668, 6 P.3d 481, 483 (2000) (holding that the deadly weapon enhancement is not a "necessary element" of felony murder); <u>LaChance v. State</u>, 130 Nev. , , 321 P.3d 919, 927 (2014) (holding that the weight of narcotics is not an element of possession because it "does not affect guilt" and is only considered at sentencing); Domingues v. State, 112 Nev. 683, 692, 917 P.2d 1364, 1371 (1996) (holding that the deadly weapon enhancement is "merely an additional penalty"). It would frustrate legislative intent to make the victim's youth a sentencing enhancement only to hold that statutory sexual seduction is a necessary lesser-included to sexual assault with a victim under 14, but not to sexual assault with victims over 14.

Because there is "no basis for determining the offenses for which [lesser-related] instructions are warranted," Hopkins, 524 U.S. at 97, 118 S. Ct. at 1901, this Court wisely "extinguish[ed] the use of lesser-related offense instructions as an attempt to rectify what ha[d] become an abyss of confusion for district courts in determining what instructions they are required to give." Barton, 117 Nev. at 694, 30 P.3d at 1108 (discussing Peck v. Nevada, 116 Nev. 845, 7 P.3d 470 (2000), overruled on other grounds by Rosas, 122 Nev. at 1269, 147 P.3d at 1109). Indeed, in Peck, this Court explained that a jury verdict is a nullity if it purports to convict a defendant for an offense that was not charged in an information, and as such, instructions on lesser-related offenses are unnecessary—if not inappropriate—because "a conviction on a crime that the State has not even attempted to prove is not a reliable result." Peck, 116 Nev. at 845, 7 P.3d at 473.

Furthermore, Alotaibi cites to <u>Robinson</u>, 110 Nev. at 1137, 881 P.2d at 667, in support of his argument that Statutory Sexual Seduction is a lesser-included of Sexual Assault of a Minor Under 14 Years of Age. In <u>Robinson</u>, the defendant was charged with statutory sexual assault of a fourteen-year-old female. <u>Id.</u> At his trial, Robinson requested an instruction on a lesser-included offense, statutory sexual

seduction. The trial court refused to give the instruction.<sup>4</sup> <u>Id.</u> at 1138, 881 P.2d at 668.

Alotaibi claims that in Robinson, this Court decided that Statutory Sexual Seduction was a lesser-included offense of Sexual Assault, AOB 18. However, that argument is incorrect. This Court held that Statutory Sexual Seduction was a lesserincluded offense of Statutory Sexual Assault, but never decided the issue as to the crime of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under 14 Years of Age. Moreover, this Court in Robinson was summarily commenting that Statutory Sexual Seduction is a lesserincluded of Statutory Sexual Assault without any analysis. Also, the trial court in Robinson refused to give the Statutory Sexual Seduction instruction, whereas here the district court offered to give the instruction, but the defense strategically chose not to accept the court's invitation. 3 AA 655-57. Defense counsel discussed this with Alotaibi, who did not have any objections to counsel's actions at the time. 3 AA 668. Because this was a lesser-related offense, Alotaibi was not entitled to this instruction sua sponte, and the district court did not err in denying Alotaibi's Motion for New Trial

Further, Alotaibi's argument that there was evidence of consent by the victim is irrelevant to this issue. AOB 22-24. Even though the State argued throughout trial

<sup>4</sup> There is no published authority discussing the elements of statutory sexual assault *vis*  $\dot{a}$  sexual assault as defined in NRS 200.366, and the former crime no longer exists.

that there was no consent, the district court found that there was some testimony of consent by A.J. 3 AA 649. Even with any evidence of consent that may have been presented at trial, the district court was still not required to give this lesser-related instruction sua sponte.

Lastly, in the event that this Court finds the district court erred in not giving the Statutory Sexual Seduction instruction because it finds that Statutory Sexual Seduction is a lesser-included offense to Sexual Assault with a Minor Under 14 Years of Age, any error by the district court was harmless.<sup>5</sup> Jury instruction errors are subject to a harmless-error analysis on appeal if they do not involve the type of errors that vitiate all the jury's findings and produce consequences that are necessarily unquantifiable and indeterminate. Cortinas v. State, 124 Nev. 1013, 1015, 195 P.3d 315, 316 (2008); Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 9, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1834 (1999) (cases involving improper instructions on a single element of the offense are reviewed under harmless-error analysis). Where a jury-instruction error is not structural in form and effect, this Court reviews for harmless error improper instructions omitting, misdescribing, or presuming an element of an offense.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In <u>Lisby v. State</u>, this Court held that if "there is evidence which would absolve the defendant from guilt of the greater offense . . . but would support a finding of guilt of the lesser offense . . . [t]he instruction is mandatory, without request. 82 Nev. 183, 187, 414 P.2d 592, 594 (1966). On November 4, 2015, this Court ordered full briefing and oral argument on the issue regarding to what extent this Court should reconsider <u>Lisby</u> regarding whether or not a trial court has to give sua sponte instructions on lesser-included offenses. <u>See</u> Docket #65856.

Collman v. State, 116 Nev. 687, 722, 7 P.3d 426, 449 (2000). An error is harmless when it is clear that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error. Neder, 527 U.S. at 18, 119 S. Ct. at 1838.

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